

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

### Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ybbrc



#### Review

# Dynamic regulation of the microtubule and actin cytoskeleton in zebrafish epiboly \*



Shyh-Jye Lee\*

Department of Life Science, National Taiwan University, 1 Roosevelt Rd., Sec., 4, Taipei 10617, Taiwan, ROC
Center for Biotechnology, National Taiwan University, 1 Roosevelt Rd., Sec., 4, Taipei 10617, Taiwan, ROC
Center for Developmental Biology and Regenerative Medicine, National Taiwan University, 1 Roosevelt Rd., Sec., 4, Taipei 10617, Taiwan, ROC
Center for System Biology, National Taiwan University, 1 Roosevelt Rd., Sec., 4, Taipei 10617, Taiwan, ROC

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 29 April 2014 Available online 9 August 2014

Keywords: Gastrulation Epiboly Microtubule Actin Zebrafish

#### ABSTRACT

Gastrulation is a key developmental stage with striking changes in morphology. Coordinated cell movements occur to bring cells to their correct positions in a timely manner. Cell movements and morphological changes are accomplished by precisely controlling dynamic changes in cytoskeletal proteins, microtubules, and actin filaments. Among those cellular movements, epiboly produces the first distinct morphological changes in teleosts. In this review, I describe epiboly and its mechanics, and the dynamic changes in microtubule networks and actin structures, mainly in zebrafish embryos. The factors regulating those cytoskeletal changes will also be discussed.

© 2014 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction		1
2. Epiboly mechanics		ly mechanics	2
	2.1.	Epiboly initiation.	. 2
	2.2.	Epiboly progression.	. 2
	2.3.	Driving force for epibolic movement	. 2
3.	Dynai	mic changes and regulation of the microtubule network	3
	3.1.	Dynamic changes of the microtubule network during epiboly	3
	3.2.	Transcriptional regulation of epiboly via microtubules	. 3
	3.3.	Other factors mediate microtubule dynamics during epiboly	3
4.	Dynamic changes and regulation of actin filaments		3
	4.1.	Dynamic changes in actin filaments during epiboly	3
	4.2.	Epiboly regulation via endocytosis.	4
	4.3.	Epiboly regulation via the interaction of adhesion molecules and F-actin	4
	4.4.	Epiboly regulation via calcium regulation	. 5
	4.5.	Epiboly regulation via Rho GTPases	6
5.	Concl	usion	6
	Ackno	owledgment	6
	Refer	ences	6

#### 1. Introduction

A single-cell fertilized egg first undergoes rapid embryonic cleavage to create enough cells for further development. The

embryo then establishes three germ layers and body axes to build a body blueprint. The three germ layers, ectoderm, mesoderm, and endoderm, are formed during gastrulation. Gastrulation is a period when coordinated cell movements take place and bring cells to their proper layers and positions. To do so, several types of cellular

<sup>\*</sup> This article was intended to be published in the special issue Fertilization and Early Development.

<sup>\*</sup> Address: Department of Life Science, National Taiwan University, 1 Roosevelt Rd., Sec., 4, Taipei 10617, Taiwan, ROC. Fax: +886 2 33665902. E-mail address: jefflee@ntu.edu.tw

movements occur during gastrulation, internalization of the epiplast to form mesoderm and endoderm (mesendoderm), convergence and extension to lay out dorsoventral and anteriorposterior axes, and epiboly to enclose the yolk cell with the blastoderm. Epiboly is the first morphologically distinct movement during gastrulation in teleosts. The zebrafish (Danio rerio) is one of the favorite teleost models for studying gastrulation due to its accessibility, ease of observation, and the feasibility of transient and permanent genetic manipulation. Global and cellular changes in initiation, progression, and closure of epibolic movements can be observed in zebrafish embryos under microscopy. Dramatic and dynamic changes in the cytoskeleton, including its actin filaments and microtubules, occur during epiboly. Pharmacological perturbations of either of these cytoskeletal structures notably inhibit or retard epibolic movement. Factors affecting cytoskeleton dynamics are often critical for epiboly. This review describes the morphological and cytoskeletal changes during epiboly and discusses factors affecting epiboly and the regulation of dynamic changes in the cytoskeleton of zebrafish embryos.

#### 2. Epiboly mechanics

The zebrafish embryo is one of the best models, which fertilizes and develops in vitro, for studying the massive changes that happen during early embryogenesis. Upon fertilization, the chorion is elevated and cytoplasmic yolk streams vegetally to clear yolk from the animal pole and form the embryo disc. The standard culture temperature for zebrafish embryos is 28.5 °C, and the developmental timing and staging described here is according to Kimmel et al. [1]. About 40 min post-fertilization, the embryo proper begins rapid cleaving at 15 min intervals to become a cap of blastomeres, called the blastoderm, sitting on top of an uncleaved yolk cell. The blastoderm is composed inside of blastomeres called deep cells, which will give rise to future embryonic tissues, and an outside covering called the enveloping layer (EVL). At 3 h post-fertilization (hpf), the marginal blastomeres at the interface between the blastoderm and the volk collapse to form a sycytium, the yolk syncitial layer (YSL), containing multiple nuclei. Epiboly begins at 4 hpf, which is indicated by the doming of the yolk cell into the blastoderm through an unclear mechanism. During doming, deep cells move radially outward [2]. Concurrently, the YSL also domes to form an internal YSL (I-YSL) and leaves the external YSL (E-YSL), which will move vegetally during epiboly. EVL, deep cells, and YSL all migrate toward the vegetal pole initially until they reached the equator of the yolk cell (50% epiboly stage). Cells temporarily pause and lateral cells converge on the future dorsal side to form the embryonic shield. At the shield, some epithelial cells involute anteriorly to become the hypoblast layer, which contains future mesendodermal cells, and non-involuting cells become the epiblast layer. The EVL, E-YSL, and epiblast continue to move vegetally and eventually the dorsal lip is closed, with the entire yolk cell enclosed at the 100% epiboly stage. For a detailed description of morphological changes during zebrafish embryonic development, readers are referred to a classical work by Kimmel et al. [1]. Here, I will focus on epiboly mechanics in more detail.

Before epiboly, the blastoderm is composed of three layers, a single-cell thick epithelium, the EVL, and deep cells. The EVL is tightly connected to the YSL appears around the midblastula transition at 3 hpf. YSL nuclei (YSN) divide several more times and become a wide E-YSL belt at the periphery of the blastoderm. By the sphere stage, at 4 hpf, the YSN are evenly distributed beneath the blastoderm to form the I-YSL. Within the YSL, the yolk is an active gene expression and signaling region that connects to the overlying blastoderm via gap junctions [3].

Trinkaus and colleagues pioneered epiboly research on the teleost *Fundulus heteroclitus*, which is similar to the zebrafish in many ways during development. Zebrafish epiboly can be grossly divided to two phases: initiation and progression [4,5].

#### 2.1. Epiboly initiation

Zebrafish epiboly initiates during the transition from the sphere stage (4 hpf) to the dome stage (4.3 hpf), with the yolk cell "doming" into the blastoderm and the blastoderm becoming an inverted cap by radial intercalation to the top of the yolk cell dome [2]. At the sphere stage, the blastoderm is piled high atop the rounded yolk cell. The blastoderm is then compressed downwards to flatten the blastoderm-yolk interface and force the embryo to assume a spherical shape. In *Fundulus*, the EVL is stretched by tight junctions attached to the YSL [6]. Similarly, tension exists within the EVL that may act to maintain the orientation of mitotic spindles in the plane of the cell sheet [7]. During doming, the E-YSL is flattened and the YSN are packed along the dorsoventral axis [8]. In the meantime, the yolk cell expands upward into the overlying blastoderm, causing a thinning of the blastoderm that makes it appear like an inverted cup on top of the yolk cell [2]. The mechanism of doming is still unclear. At the midblastula transition, deep cells become motile with active blebs extending in random directions until cells begin to move radially outward [2]. It is generally believed that deep cells are pushed outward by the doming yolk cell due to the fact that most cells disperse into the center of the embryo [9]. However, whether deep cells move actively or passively during epiboly initiation needs further investigation. We also know very little about the factors affecting doming.

The transcriptional inhibitor  $\alpha$ -amanitin inhibits doming if it is administrated to embryos during the cleavage stage [10], suggesting that active transcription is required for doming. However, no zygotic mutants with defective doming have been identified [10]. There is only one maternal mutant halt (srh) recovered that fails to dome [11,12]; however, srh mutant embryos exhibit early developmental arrest. Thus, its doming defect may very likely be secondary to aborted zygotic gene expression.

#### 2.2. Epiboly progression

Once epiboly is initiated, the blastoderm thins and spreads toward the vegetal pole, resulting in a large increase in the blastoderm's surface (4.3–10 hpf). Deep cells, the EVL, and YSL margins move dynamically throughout epiboly progression, and the tightly attached YSL and EVL margins are always running in front of the blastoderm margin. E-YSL nuclei are gradually covered by the blastoderm at 30–40% of the epiboly stage. At the shield stage (soon after 50% epiboly), deep cell migration temporarily ceases while cell internalization is initiated and the blastoderm engulfs the widest part of the yolk. At this time, EVL and YSL expand past the blastoderm margin to cover 65% and 70% of the yolk surface, respectively, just when the deep cells have attained 60% epiboly [8]. The internalization of deep cells splits them into outer ectodermal epiblasts and inner mesendodermal hypoblasts. In contrast to the initiation phase, and while epiboly occurs without other gastrulation movements, concurrent ingression and convergence take place during most of the progression phase. After the blastoderm has crossed over the equator of the volk, the actomyosin ring at the blastoderm margin starts to constrict circumferentially to close the blastopore [13].

#### 2.3. Driving force for epibolic movement

It is commonly accepted that the yolk cell may function as an epiboly motor to pull the EVL and deep cells along with it, as evidenced by the fact that the YSL moves faster during epiboly in

the absence of the blastoderm [4,6]. The YSL is connected to the EVL via tight junctions and thus exerts its pulling force on the blastoderm. To serve as an epiboly motor, the yolk surface exhibits dynamic changes in the cytoskeleton that coincide with epiboly progression. From the shield stage to the end of epiboly, an estimated 87% of the external membrane is removed in a zebrafish embryo [13]. In addition, the lost external yolk cell membrane can be recovered by active endocytosis in a region vegetal to the running front of the blastoderm in both *Fundulus* and zebrafish [8,14]. It appears that endocytosis may be important for epiboly, but this remains to be tested.

#### 3. Dynamic changes and regulation of the microtubule network

#### 3.1. Dynamic changes of the microtubule network during epiboly

A microtubule network exists in the zebrafish embryo before doming. Two distinct types of microtubule arrays are present in zebrafish embryos and actively involved in epibolic movements. Short parallel intercrossing microtubule arrays tether YSN to the E-YSL. The perpendicular arrays along the animal-vegetal axis are in the yolk cytoplasmic layer (YCL) [8]. YCL microtubules arise from microtubule organizing regions in the marginal YSN and extend through the yolk cell to the vegetal pole. Strähle and Jesuthasan first observed the delay in zebrafish epiboly by disrupting microtubules with ultraviolet light or the microtubule depolymerizing agent nocodazole [5]. Later work by Solnica-Krezel and Driver revealed that nocodazole only affects epiboly progression, not the initiation of epiboly, and microtubule-dependent YSL contraction is not required for initiation [8]. These results demonstrate the necessity of YCL microtubule arrays for regulating the speed of epiboly. Furthermore, the epiboly of EVL is least affected by nocodazole [8] because it does not inhibit endocytosis in the blastoderm's marginal rim, which is in part driving the epibolic movement of the EVL [4].

The stability of the microtubule appears to be critical for epiboly. Taxol-treated zebrafish embryos have stable microtubules and reveal epiboly defects [8]. Global or YSL-specific morpholino (MO) knockdown of cytochrome P450, subfamily XIA, polypeptide 1 (Cyp11a1), an enzyme catalyzing cholesterol into pregnenolone (P5), results in epiboly delay and blockage of blastopore closure [15]. The role of Cyp11a1 in epiboly is further strengthened by its restricted expression in the YSL during epiboly [16]. Cyp11a1 MO-treated embryos (hereafter called morphants) have disruptive microtubule arrays and reduced polymerized microtubules, implying that P5 mediates epiboly via stabilizing microtubules. However, how P5 exerts its microtubule stabilizing activity was puzzling until the discovery of one of its binding proteins, cytoplasmic linker protein 1 (CLIP-170), which is a microtubule plus end-tracking protein, through the use of a P5 photoaffinity probe conjugated to diaminobenzophenone. P5 interacts with CLIP-170 at its coiled-coil domain and changes CLIP-170 to an open state that enhances its interaction with microtubules, the dynactin subunit p150<sup>Glued</sup>, and the dynein-binding protein LIS1. It also promotes CLIP-170-dependent microtubule polymerization. More importantly, clip-170 morphants show epiboly defects similar to cyp11a1 morphants. Collectively, the P5-CLIP-170 signal appears to play an important role in regulating microtubule dynamics during epiboly [17]. However, questions still remain unresolved about the dynamic production and distribution of P5, its synthesizing and degrading enzymes, Cyp11a1 and Hasd3b, respectively, and their correlation to changes in microtubule dynamics during epiboly.

#### 3.2. Transcriptional regulation of epiboly via microtubules

Several transcription factors have been shown to regulate epiboly by modulating microtubules. Among them, eomesodermin

(EOMES), a T-box transcription factor involved in patterning and morphogenesis, is essential for gastrulation in Xenopus [18] and zebrafish [2,19,20]. A maternal/zygotic zebrafish mutant of eomesa shows distinct delay in epiboly initiation but not progression in a microtubule-dependent manner [21]. Eomesa mutant embryos can eventually complete epiboly with the concomitant recovery of the YCL microtubule array, possibly via other complementary genes like pou5f1. Pou5f1 also known as Oct4, is a POU domain transcription factor that is critical for maintenance of stemness in mice [22]. Zebrafish pou5f1 maternal/zygotic mutant embryos (spiel ohne grenzen) are severely defective in gastrulation, dorsalization, and endoderm malformation due to alterations in microtubules and actin filaments in all three embryonic lineages [23]. In addition, monosaccharide O-linked beta-N-acetylglucosamine (O-GlcNAc) can modify Pou5f1/Oct4 in human embryonic stem cells. Up- or down-regulation of monosaccharide O-linked beta-Nacetylglucosamine (O-GlcNAc), which can modify Pou5f1/Oct4 in human embryonic stem cells, results in severe disturbance of microtubules and actin filaments and defective epibolic movement [24]. Collectively, transcriptional regulation of microtubule dynamics appears to be important in zebrafish epiboly, and other transcription factors that may be involved in microtubule dynamics are still waiting to be discovered.

#### 3.3. Other factors mediate microtubule dynamics during epiboly

Non-canonical Wnt/planar cell polarity (Wnt/PCP) signaling mediates convergent and extension movements from ascidians through mammals by controlling the polarity of cell morphology and behavior [25]. By examining the interaction of Wnt/PCP and the centrosome or microtubule organizing center (MTOC), Sepich et al. (2011) demonstrated that a reciprocal requirement for Wnt/PCP polarity and positioning of MTOC establishes embryonic polarity. Once planar polarity is established, intact microtubules are no longer needed [26].

Microtubule-associated protein 9 (Map9/Asap) has recently been shown to be essential for early embryogenesis in zebrafish [27]. Map9 is associated with the mitotic spindle. The overexpression of *map9* results in an aberrant spindle and the loss of Map9 causes mitotic defects and cell death [28]. Injection of *map9* MO at the one-cell stage results in early epiboly arrest and disruption of YSL microtubule arrays that can be partially rescued by *map9* mRNA. To examine whether the Map9 effect is specific to the regulation of YSL microtubules, *map9* MO was injected into the YSL. Although similar epiboly arrest was observed in those embryos, the defect could not be rescued by the co-injection of *map9* mRNA. Thus, whether the effect of Map9 is specific to the regulation of YSL microtubules or due to its effect on mitosis and subsequent cell apoptosis is still uncertain.

Calcium channel  $\beta4$  subunit, a membrane-associated guanylate cyclase, regulates doming in a calcium-independent manner as demonstrated in MO knockdown assays. At a lower frequency, YSL-specific knockdown also blocked epiboly initiation, suggesting  $\beta4.1$  and  $\beta4.2$  genes have autonomous functions in the yolk. A similar phenotype was found in embryos treated with nocodazole, but yolk microtubules were not examined in the morphants and no mechanism is provided for the calcium channel-independent function [29].

#### 4. Dynamic changes and regulation of actin filaments

#### 4.1. Dynamic changes in actin filaments during epiboly

A classical paper by Andrew Miller's group described in detail three types of filamentous actin (F-actin)-based structures appearing only after the shield stage [13]. There are two F-actin rings in the blastoderm margins of the deep cell and the EVL and a punctate actin band forms in the E-YSL. In addition, a vegetal actin cap appears between 30% and 85% epiboly stage. Disruption of these actin-based structures by cytochalasin B or a calcium chelator leads to the delay or arrest of epiboly, followed by the failure of yolk cell occlusion and lysis of the embryo. It suggests a pivotal role for these structures in the occlusion of the yolk cell during epiboly. Miller and colleagues proposed a purse-string mode that these actin rings at the EVL and deep cells leading margins may act as tighteners to promote active cell rearrangement and shape the change in EVL marginal cells needed to enclose the vegetal pole. This coordination may help drive epiboly by constricting the E-YSL and exerting tension on the attached margin of the EVL. Meanwhile, the yolk cell membrane is removed ahead of the advancing blastoderm as epiboly progresses [4,14]. Furthermore, the punctuate belt of F-actin is co-localized with a zone of active endocytosis that implies a role of dynamic actin remodeling in endocytosis during epiboly. However, it is bewildering that the endocytosis appears not to be affected by cytochalasin B [13].

#### 4.2. Epiboly regulation via endocytosis

The dynamic turnover of E-cadherin is central to the effective and synchronized migration of mesendodermal cells during zebrafish gastrulation. Cooper and D'Amico (1996) first observed a cluster of endocytic cells, which are composed of EVL cells and one to two layers of deep cells [30]. This cluster of cells does not involute during epiboly and may be involved in the turnover of E-cadherin. Rab5, a small guanosine triphosphatase (GTPase), is well known for its role in the formation of early endosomes, which function to redistribute the endocytic membrane [31]. Wnt11 controls morphogenic cell movement during gastrulation by regulating Rab5-dependent adhesion of mesendodermal progenitor cells. The knockdown of Rab5c in wild-type embryos causes a posteriorly displaced and elongated prechordal plate at the end of gastrulation that resembles phenotypes of the slb/wnt11 mutant, and the slb/wnt11 mutant can be rescued by overexpressing Rab5c, Wnt11 and Rab5c are both essential for the endocytosis of E-cadherin and E-cadherin-mediated cell cohesion that mediate mesendodermal involution [32].

Zebrafish Pou5f1/Oct4 maternal and zygotic *spg* mutant embryos are severely delayed in epiboly with an E-cadherin endosomal trafficking defect that results in E-cadherin accumulation at the plasma membrane. A mechanistic analysis revealed that Pou5f1-dependent EGF expression regulates endosomal E-cadherin trafficking via modulating p120 activity. This indicates that E-cadherin endosomal trafficking is required for the effective generation of new adhesion sites during epiboly cell movements [33].

Cells maintain a polarized orientation in a plane of tissue in a way called planar cell polarity (PCP). To do so, changes in cell adhesion and within the extracellular matrix (ECM) need to be tightly coordinated. Membrane type-1 matrix metalloproteinase (MT1-MMP or MMP14) is essential for PCP and convergent extension. A PCP protein, Vang-like 2 (VANGL2), regulates focal adhesion kinase-dependent endocytosis and the cell-surface availability of MMP14. Zebrafish trilobite/vangl2 mutant embryos have enhanced Mmp14 activity and reduced ECM. The knockdown of MMP14 can partially rescue the Vangl2-dependent convergence and extension defect. This suggests a link between VANGL2 and MMP14 trafficking and also that the establishment of PCP in migrating gastrula cells requires controlled proteolytic degradation or remodeling of the ECM [34].

Actomyosin contractility drives apical constriction in *Xenopus laevis* bottle cells [35] via endocytosis-driven membrane remodeling. Endosomes are located exclusively in bottle cells in the early

gastrula, and the disruption of endocytosis with dominant-negative dynamin, a large GTPase involved in vesicle scission [36] or rab5 interferes with apical constriction. This suggests that endocytosis occurs downstream of actomyosin contractility to eliminate excess membrane tissue. The removal of the yolk cell membrane by endocytosis has long been proposed to be essential during epiboly. Using a combination of drugs and dominant-negative constructs to inhibit dynamin, dynamin-based endocytosis within the blastoderm but not in the yolk cell was found to be required for epiboly of the blastoderm. The blastoderm maintains epithelial integrity and the transmission of tension across the EVL. They further demonstrate that dynamin maintains EVL and epiboly progression by countering RhoA activity [37].

## 4.3. Epiboly regulation via the interaction of adhesion molecules and F-actin

Desmocollin (Dsc) and desmoglein a (Dsga), cadherin superfamily proteins, are desmosomes mediating intercellular junction adhesion [38]. Desmosomes appear in the mid-gastrula embryos of *F. heteroclitus* and zebrafish and are expected to play roles in early development [39,40]. The MO knockdown of Dsc and Dsga expression produce similar defects in epiboly, axis elongation, and somite formation, and is associated with abnormal desmosomes or reduced desmosome numbers [41]. With the tight link between desmosomes and sub-membrane F-actin [42], the knockdown of Dsc and/or Dsga should have an impact on the F-actin cytoskeleton, but this remains to be examined.

Claudins are the major transmembrane proteins of tight junctions. One of the claudins, claudin E, has restricted expression in the EVL. The MO knockdown of *claudin e* induces epiboly delay with high penetrance. The EVL margin attached to the YSL has reduced tension in *claudin e* morphants. Local variation in the strength of the EVL–YSL attachment in *claudin e* morphants might result in the slow and uneven advancement of the EVL and blastoderm during zebrafish epiboly [43].

Syntenin, a small intracellular scaffold protein, contains two PSD-95 proteins, discs large, and ZO-1 (PDZ) domains for interacting with the C-terminal tails of transmembrane receptors [44]. It binds to the syndecan family of heparan sulfate proteoglycans [45], occurs at the cell surface, and functions as a co-receptor for different adhesion molecules and growth factors like FGFs and Wnt proteins [46]. Syntenin is rate-limiting for the recycling of endosomal syndecans to the plasma membrane [47]. This recycling is important for cell spreading and depends on the activation of the small GTPase ADP-ribosylation factor 6 (Arf6), which recruits phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate 5-kinase on perinuclear endosomes, and on the ability of syntenin to directly interact with phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2). Lambaerts et al. found that epiboly relies on the networking of syntenin with syndecan heparan sulfate proteoglycans [48]. The interaction of syntenin with PIP2 and with Arf6 can regulate the endocytic recycling of syndecan and is necessary for epiboly progression. Syntenin is required for the autonomous vegetal expansion of the YSL and rearrangement of the actin cytoskeleton in extra-embryonic tissues, but not in embryonic cell fate determination.

Heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs) are cell surface and extracellular matrix proteins with the covalent glycosaminoglycan (GAG) chain. The modulation of cellular responses by HSPGs is partially controlled by GAG chain modification [49]. O-sulfotransferases catalyze the transfer of a sulfate to heparan sulfate GAG chains. Cadwalader et al. showed that 2-O-sulfotransferase (2-OST) is essential for canonical Wnt signaling in zebrafish development [50]. Embryos deficient in 2-OST have reduced GAG chain sulfation and are not responsive to exogenous Wnt8 overexpression. 2-OST morphants have normal activation of selected zygotic mesoderm,

endoderm, and ectoderm genes, but exhibit decreased deep cell adhesion and cannot initiate epiboly. These defects in 2-OST-deficient zebrafish embryos are associated with decreased  $\beta$ -catenin and E-cadherin protein levels at cell junctions, and can be rescued by stabilized  $\beta$ -catenin or dominant-negative Gsk3 but not by overexpressing the Wnt8 ligand. Thus, 2-OST appears to act downstream of the Wnt ligand and is upstream of intracellular Gsk3 and  $\beta$ -catenin.

Tay et al. knocked down Cdc42 and Chp (Cdc42 homologous protein) and found that Chp is essential for zebrafish epiboly. Chp/RhoV is a Cdc42-like GTPase. It binds a number of effector kinases including PAKs [51,52]. The over-expressed Chp protein promotes rapid turnover of PAK1 in mammalian cells [51], but its role in embryogenesis is unclear. Chp is required for the stabilization of the E-cadh/bcatenin complex at adherens junctions. Cell adhesion during epiboly is perturbed without Chp. PAK activation at cell-cell junctions occurs downstream of Chp during this process [53].

#### 4.4. Epiboly regulation via calcium regulation

Contraction of the actin-myosin ring is the driving force for the progression of epiboly. Calcium is a key regulator of actin ring contraction. After 50% epiboly, a transiently high concentration of calcium appears at the blastoderm margin where the actin ring originates [54,55]. Blockage of the calcium transient inhibits actin ring formation [13]. On the other hand, the zebrafish homolog of the serine-threonine kinase mitogen-activated protein kinase-activated protein kinase 2 (MAPKAPK2) and its regulator p38 MAPK are associated with premature ring contraction and ectopic calcium levels increasing in the blastoderm [56]. These facts suggest that intracellular calcium needs to be tightly regulated for contraction of the actomyosin ring and epiboly progression.

Nrz, a member of the bcl-2 family of apoptosis inhibitors, is specifically expressed in the YSL [57]. Knockdown of Nrz induces premature actin ring contraction and embryonic mortality [58]. This premature contraction is triggered by increasing calcium levels at the margin between the blastoderm and the YSL even before the initiation of epiboly. Calcium presumably activates the calciumdependent protein calmodulin and downstream myosin light chain kinase (MLCK), leading to increased myosin phosphorylation and subsequent actin-myosin contraction. Nrz is found in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and interacts with inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor type 1 (IP3R1) to regulate ER calcium release. Nrz binds to the IP3R1 BH4 domain to control calcium fluxes inside the YSL and regulates actin-myosin ring formation during epiboly. Together, this series of studies suggest that Nrz is a central mediator for regulating calcium signaling and actin dynamics during epiboly progression.

Nrz contains four BH (Bcl-2 homology) domains, numbered BH4, BH3, BH1, and BH2, from the N to the C terminus, respectively. Bcl-2 interacts with IP3R1 via its BH4 domain. Histamine can elicit an IP3-induced Ca<sup>2+</sup> release (IICR). Bonneau et al. found that histamine-induced increased cytosolic Ca<sup>2+</sup> is significantly reduced by overexpressing Nrz BH1, BH3, and BH4 domains (Nrz1-94Cb5), but not Nrz BH3 and BH4 domains (Nrz1-67Cb5), suggesting that both BH4 and BH1 domains are required for IICR [59]. They also found that BH4 and BH1 domains are required for the inhibition of IICR for actin remodeling and epiboly in zebrafish. Furthermore, they demonstrated that phosphorylation on Nrz Ser31 by an unknown kinase is critical for inhibiting the interaction between Nrz and IP3R1 and promoting IICR.

Different protein kinases or phosphatases have been reported to modify IP3R and modulate its channel activity via phosphorylation or dephosphorylation at well conserved sites among species that include zebrafish. In general, IP3R is activated by phosphorylation and inactivated by dephosphorylation. Bcl-2 can modulate the phosphorylation status of IP3R by direct interaction with calcineurin [60] and calcium/calmodulin-dependent phosphatase, which are both known to be phosphatases for IP3R [61]. Calcineurin specifically regulates increased IICR induced by the protein kinase C (PKC) phosphorylation of IP3R. Thus, Bcl-2 may recruit calcineurin to trigger dephosphorylation of IP3R and inhibit IICR. Bcl-2 could also be phosphorylated by PKC at the Ser70 site, a residue located in an unstructured loop at the N-terminus of the protein between the BH4 and BH3 domains [62]. Collectively, these studies all point to the critical regulation of IP3R phosphorylation status and activity by Bcl-2. Bcl-2 phosphorylation on serine or threonine residues of IP3R is associated with its inactivation since mutation of these phosphorylated sites enhances the anti-apoptotic effect of Bcl-2 [63,64]. More importantly, a non-phosphorylatable Bcl-2 was shown to be more efficient for decreasing IICR [65], suggesting that a phosphatase is required for its activation and that calcineurin, a Blc-2 interacting phosphatase, should be a favorable candidate. By the same token, Nrz also contains an unstructured loop between its BH4 and BH3 domains, and this loop has two serine residues and one threonine residue as does Bcl-2. It was thus hypothesized that Nrz may be similarly regulated by phosphorylation [66].

To examine the role of Nrz phosphorylation during epiboly, [59] first showed that Nrz is phosphorylated during early epiboly. They constructed several Nrz phosphomimetic mutant genes bearing mutations to prevent the phosphorylation required for binding to IP3R1. In cultured cells, wild-type Nrz but not Nrz with phosphomimetic mutations interacted with the IP3 binding domain of IP3R1, inhibited the binding of IP3 to IP3R1, and prevented histamineinduced increases in cytosolic Ca<sup>2+</sup>. The functional importance of Nrz phosphorylation was validated by the expression of the Nrz phosphomimetic mutant in zebrafish embryos and observations of the disruption of cyclic Ca<sup>2+</sup> transients on the assembly of the actin-myosin ring and epiboly arrest. These data suggest that Nrz phosphorylation is necessary for the generation of IICR and the formation of circumferential actin-myosin cables required for epiboly. Gillet and colleagues thus built a model for the control of IP3R1/ Nrz interactions by reversible phosphorylation and dephosphorylation [66]. Before 50% epiboly, Nrz interacts and inhibits IP3R1 by a phosphatase like calcineurin or by the direct binding of Nrz to the IP3R regulatory domain. After the shield stage, an unidentified signal activates phospholipase C (PLC) to generate IP3 and diacylglycerol (DAG) for the subsequent activation of PKC [67]. PKC may then phosphorylate both Nrz and IP3R1, thus inhibiting Nrz and activating IP3R1, which allows the release of calcium from the ER upon IP3 binding. The PKC-dependent phosphorylation of IP3R is inhibited by calcium [68] to maintain low levels of calcium in the YSL. The Nrz-dependent release of calcium may activate calmodulin to interact with MLCK and promote MLC2 phosphorylation, thus inducing actin-myosin ring contraction. On the other hand, calcium and calmodulin may activate calcineurin, which could in turn dephosphorylate both Nrz and IP3R1 by interacting with Nrz and prevent channel opening. This feedback loop may be of major importance during epiboly since abnormal calcium levels in the YSL may induce unwanted actin ring contraction leading to the detachment of the blastoderm from the yolk and death of the embryo. This reversible phosphorylation of the Nrz/IP3R complex is critical for proper calcium signaling and subsequent actin cytoskeleton remodeling in the developing embryo. According to this model, a phosphorylation/dephosphorylation loop may be implicated in generating temporally controlled calcium transients and actin-myosin ring contraction, which drive epiboly progression. If confirmed, this hypothesis could give new insight into calcium signaling and cytoskeleton dynamics during early zebrafish development. Recently, the Gillet group further identified a newly characterized Bcl-2 family member, Bcl-wav, and demonstrated its necessity for zebrafish gastrulation. Bcl-wav regulates the formation of actin protrusions during convergence and extension via mediating mitochondrial Ca<sup>2+</sup> uptake. This finding further illustrates the diverse role of Bcl-2 protein functions.

#### 4.5. Epiboly regulation via Rho GTPases

Rho is one master regulator for actin cytoskeleton-related cellular processes, including exocytosis, endocytosis, vesicle transport/secretion, cell migration, and cytokinesis [69]. Pharmacological inhibition of Rho by *Clostridium botulinum* C3-exoenzyme (C3) disrupts cytokinesis, epiboly, and gastrulation movements [70]. The effects of Rho are activated by Wnt5/Wnt11 and mediated via its downstream effector Rho-associate kinase and diaphanous-related formin 2 (Dia2) [70–72]. Rho signaling exerts its effect on actin dynamics during gastrulation via modulation of actin binding proteins profilin and cofilin [70–73]. Actin dynamics can also be regulated by PIP2/PIP3 balance via their catalyzing enzymes, PTEN and PI3K, respectively [74,75].

The Wnt/PCP pathway mediates mitosis by an unknown mechanism in dorsal epiblast cell divisions along the animal-vegetal (AV) axis during zebrafish gastrulation. A recent finding indicates that anthrax toxin receptor 2a (Antxr2a) localizes in a polarized cortical cap aligned with the embryonic AV axis and forecasts the division plane as that of a F-actin AV polarized cap. More interestingly, the formation of this F-actin cap depends on Wnt/PCP and its effectors RhoA and Rho-associate kinase 2. Antxr2a interacts with actin and RhoA in the cap to activate the diaphanous-related formin Dia2. It suggests that Antxr2a acts as a Wnt-dependent polarized determinant to exert torque on the spindle and align it with the AV axis via the activation of RhoA and Dia2 [76].

#### 5. Conclusion

Gastrulation has the most striking morphological changes during early development. Those changes are accomplished by coordinated cellular movements to build germ layers and body axes to insure correct patterning for further development. Gastrulation cell movements mediated by the dynamic changes of cytoskeleton proteins, microtubules, and actin have been documented and the development of cell imaging technologies further improves our understanding over time and space. The power of molecular tools also unravels the functional necessity of genes and factors like calcium and its biding proteins involving in the regulation of microtubules and actins during gastrulation. However, many questions still remain to be answered, in particular the initiation of epiboly and the coordination between different cell movements during gastrulation.

#### Acknowledgment

The work was supported by the National Science Council (NSC-01-2923-B-002-007-MY2).

#### References

- C.B. Kimmel, W.W. Ballard, S.R. Kimmel, B. Ullmann, T.F. Schilling, Stages of embryonic development of the zebrafish, Dev. Dyn. 203 (1995) 253–310.
- [2] R.M. Warga, C.B. Kimmel, Cell movements during epiboly and gastrulation in zebrafish, Development 108 (1990) 569–580.
- [3] C.B. Kimmel, R.D. Law, Cell lineage of zebrafish blastomeres. II. Formation of the yolk syncytial layer, Dev. Biol. 108 (1985) 86–93.
- [4] T. Betchaku, J.P. Trinkaus, Contact relations, surface activity, and cortical microfilaments of marginal cells of the enveloping layer and of the yolk syncytial and yolk cytoplasmic layers of fundulus before and during epiboly, J. Exp. Zool. 206 (1978) 381–426.
- [5] U. Strahle, S. Jesuthasan, Ultraviolet irradiation impairs epiboly in zebrafish embryos: evidence for a microtubule-dependent mechanism of epiboly, Development 119 (1993) 909–919.

- [6] J.P. Trinkaus, A study of the mechanism of epiboly in the egg of *Fundulus heteroclitus*, J. Exp. Zool. 118 (1951) 269–319.
- [7] D. Kane, R. Adams, Life at the edge: epiboly and involution in the zebrafish, Results Probl. Cell Differ. 40 (2002) 117–135.
- [8] L. Solnica-Krezel, W. Driever, Microtubule arrays of the zebrafish yolk cell: organization and function during epiboly, Development 120 (1994) 2443– 2455.
- [9] E.T. Wilson, C.J. Cretekos, K.A. Helde, Cell mixing during early epiboly in the zebrafish embryo, Dev. Genet. 17 (1995) 6–15.
- [10] D.A. Kane, M. Hammerschmidt, M.C. Mullins, H.M. Maischein, M. Brand, F.J. van Eeden, M. Furutani-Seiki, M. Granato, P. Haffter, C.P. Heisenberg, Y.J. Jiang, R.N. Kelsh, J. Odenthal, R.M. Warga, C. Nusslein-Volhard, The zebrafish epiboly mutants, Development 123 (1996) 47–55.
- [11] D.S. Wagner, R. Dosch, K.A. Mintzer, A.P. Wiemelt, M.C. Mullins, Maternal control of development at the midblastula transition and beyond: mutants from the zebrafish II, Dev. Cell 6 (2004) 781–790.
- [12] R. Dosch, D.S. Wagner, K.A. Mintzer, G. Runke, A.P. Wiemelt, M.C. Mullins, Maternal control of vertebrate development before the midblastula transition: mutants from the zebrafish I, Dev. Cell 6 (2004) 771–780.
- [13] J.C. Cheng, A.L. Miller, S.E. Webb, Organization and function of microfilaments during late epiboly in zebrafish embryos, Dev. Dyn. 231 (2004) 313–323.
- [14] T. Betchaku, J.P. Trinkaus, Programmed endocytosis during epiboly of Fundulus heteroclitus, Am. Zool. 26 (1986) 193–199.
- [15] H.J. Hsu, M.R. Liang, C.T. Chen, B.C. Chung, Pregnenolone stabilizes microtubules and promotes zebrafish embryonic cell movement, Nature 439 (2006) 480–483.
- [16] H.J. Hsu, P. Hsiao, M.W. Kuo, B.C. Chung, Expression of zebrafish cyp11a1 as a maternal transcript and in yolk syncytial layer, Gene Expr. Patterns 2 (2002) 219–222.
- [17] J.H. Weng, M.R. Liang, C.H. Chen, S.K. Tong, T.C. Huang, S.P. Lee, Y.R. Chen, C.T. Chen, B.C. Chung, Pregnenolone activates CLIP-170 to promote microtubule growth and cell migration, Nat. Chem. Biol. 9 (2013) 636-642.
- [18] K. Ryan, N. Garrett, A. Mitchell, J.B. Gurdon, Eomesodermin, a key early gene in Xenopus mesoderm differentiation, Cell 87 (1996) 989–1000.
- [19] A.E. Bruce, C. Howley, M. Dixon Fox, R.K. Ho, T-box gene eomesodermin and the homeobox-containing Mix/Bix gene mtx2 regulate epiboly movements in the zebrafish, Dev. Dyn. 233 (2005) 105–114.
- [20] S.E. Lepage, A.E. Bruce, Zebrafish epiboly: mechanics and mechanisms, Int. J. Dev. Biol. 54 (2010) 1213–1228.
- [21] S. Du, B.W. Draper, M. Mione, C.B. Moens, A. Bruce, Differential regulation of epiboly initiation and progression by zebrafish Eomesodermin A, Dev. Biol. 362 (2012) 11–23.
- [22] J. Nichols, B. Zevnik, K. Anastassiadis, H. Niwa, D. Klewe-Nebenius, I. Chambers, H. Scholer, A. Smith, Formation of pluripotent stem cells in the mammalian embryo depends on the POU transcription factor Oct4, Cell 95 (1998) 379–391.
- [23] M. Lachnit, E. Kur, W. Driever, Alterations of the cytoskeleton in all three embryonic lineages contribute to the epiboly defect of Pou5f1/Oct4 deficient MZspg zebrafish embryos, Dev. Biol. 315 (2008) 1–17.
- [24] D.M. Webster, C.F. Teo, Y. Sun, D. Wloga, S. Gay, K.D. Klonowski, L. Wells, S.T. Dougan, O-GlcNAc modifications regulate cell survival and epiboly during zebrafish development, BMC Dev. Biol. 9 (2009) 28.
- [25] L. Solnica-Krezel, Conserved patterns of cell movements during vertebrate gastrulation, Curr. Biol. 15 (2005) R213–R228.
- [26] A. Schepis, D. Sepich, W.J. Nelson, AlphaE-catenin regulates cell-cell adhesion and membrane blebbing during zebrafish epiboly, Development 139 (2012) 537-546.
- [27] L. Fontenille, S. Rouquier, G. Lutfalla, D. Giorgi, Microtubule-associated protein 9 (Map9/Asap) is required for the early steps of zebrafish development, Cell Cycle 13 (2014).
- [28] J.M. Saffin, M. Venoux, C. Prigent, J. Espeut, F. Poulat, D. Giorgi, A. Abrieu, S. Rouquier, ASAP, a human microtubule-associated protein required for bipolar spindle assembly and cytokinesis, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102 (2005) 11302–11307.
- [29] A.M. Ebert, C.A. McAnelly, A. Srinivasan, J.L. Linker, W.A. Horne, D.M. Garrity, Ca2+ channel-independent requirement for MAGUK family CACNB4 genes in initiation of zebrafish epiboly, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105 (2008) 198–203.
- [30] M.S. Cooper, L.A. D'Amico, A cluster of noninvoluting endocytic cells at the margin of the zebrafish blastoderm marks the site of embryonic shield formation, Dev. Biol. 180 (1996) 184–198.
- [31] F. Ulrich, C.P. Heisenberg, Probing E-cadherin endocytosis by morpholinomediated Rab5 knockdown in zebrafish, Methods Mol. Biol. 440 (2008) 371–387.
- [32] F. Ulrich, M. Krieg, E.M. Schotz, V. Link, I. Castanon, V. Schnabel, A. Taubenberger, D. Mueller, P.H. Puech, C.P. Heisenberg, Wnt11 functions in gastrulation by controlling cell cohesion through Rab5c and E-cadherin, Dev. Cell 9 (2005) 555–564.
- [33] S. Song, S. Eckerle, D. Onichtchouk, J.A. Marrs, R. Nitschke, W. Driever, Pou5f1-dependent EGF expression controls E-cadherin endocytosis, cell adhesion, and zebrafish epiboly movements, Dev. Cell 24 (2013) 486–501.
- [34] B.B. Williams, V.A. Cantrell, N.A. Mundell, A.C. Bennett, R.E. Quick, J.R. Jessen, VANGL2 regulates membrane trafficking of MMP14 to control cell polarity and migration, J. Cell Sci. 125 (2012) 2141–2147.
- [35] J.Y. Lee, R.M. Harland, Actomyosin contractility and microtubules drive apical constriction in Xenopus bottle cells, Dev. Biol. 311 (2007) 40–52.
- [36] S.E. Lepage, M. Tada, A.E. Bruce, Zebrafish Dynamin is required for maintenance of enveloping layer integrity and the progression of epiboly, Dev. Biol. 385 (2014) 52–66.

- [37] J.Y. Lee, R.M. Harland, Endocytosis is required for efficient apical constriction during Xenopus gastrulation, Curr. Biol. 20 (2010) 253–258.
- [38] D.R. Garrod, A.J. Merritt, Z. Nie, Desmosomal cadherins, Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 14 (2002) 537–545.
- [39] K. Slanchev, T.J. Carney, M.P. Stemmler, B. Koschorz, A. Amsterdam, H. Schwarz, M. Hammerschmidt, The epithelial cell adhesion molecule EpCAM is required for epithelial morphogenesis and integrity during zebrafish epiboly and skin development, PLoS Genet. 5 (2009) e1000563.
- [40] J.P. Trinkaus, T.L. Lentz, Surface specializations of Fundulus cells and their relation to cell movements during gastrulation, J. Cell Biol. 32 (1967) 139–153.
- [41] A. Goonesinghe, X.M. Luan, A. Hurlstone, D. Garrod, Desmosomal cadherins in zebrafish epiboly and gastrulation, BMC Dev. Biol. 12 (2012) 1.
- [42] K.J. Green, B. Geiger, J.C. Jones, J.C. Talian, R.D. Goldman, The relationship between intermediate filaments and microfilaments before and during the formation of desmosomes and adherens-type junctions in mouse epidermal keratinocytes, J. Cell Biol. 104 (1987) 1389–1402.
- [43] M. Siddiqui, H. Sheikh, C. Tran, A.E. Bruce, The tight junction component Claudin E is required for zebrafish epiboly, Dev. Dyn. 239 (2010) 715–722.
- [44] C. Nourry, S.G. Grant, J.P. Borg, PDZ domain proteins: plug and play!, Sci STKE 2003 (2003) RE7.
- [45] J.J. Grootjans, G. Reekmans, H. Ceulemans, G. David, Syntenin-syndecan binding requires syndecan-synteny and the co-operation of both PDZ domains of syntenin, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 19933–19941.
- [46] K. Lambaerts, S.A. Wilcox-Adelman, P. Zimmermann, The signaling mechanisms of syndecan heparan sulfate proteoglycans, Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 21 (2009) 662–669.
- [47] P. Zimmermann, Z. Zhang, G. Degeest, E. Mortier, I. Leenaerts, C. Coomans, J. Schulz, F. N'Kuli, P.J. Courtoy, G. David, Syndecan recycling [corrected] is controlled by syntenin-PIP2 interaction and Arf6, Dev. Cell 9 (2005) 377–388.
- [48] K. Lambaerts, S. Van Dyck, E. Mortier, Y. Ivarsson, G. Degeest, A. Luyten, E. Vermeiren, B. Peers, G. David, P. Zimmermann, Syntenin, a syndecan adaptor and an Arf6 phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate effector, is essential for epiboly and gastrulation cell movements in zebrafish, J. Cell Sci. 125 (2012) 1129–1140
- [49] M. Gotte, D. Spillmann, G.W. Yip, E. Versteeg, F.G. Echtermeyer, T.H. van Kuppevelt, L. Kiesel, Changes in heparan sulfate are associated with delayed wound repair, altered cell migration, adhesion and contractility in the galactosyltransferase I (beta4GaIT-7) deficient form of Ehlers-Danlos syndrome, Hum. Mol. Genet. 17 (2008) 996–1009.
- [50] E.L. Cadwalader, M.L. Condic, H.J. Yost, 2-O-sulfotransferase regulates Wnt signaling, cell adhesion and cell cycle during zebrafish epiboly, Development 139 (2012) 1296–1305.
- [51] M. Weisz Hubsman, N. Volinsky, E. Manser, D. Yablonski, A. Aronheim, Autophosphorylation-dependent degradation of Pak1, triggered by the Rhofamily GTPase, Chp, Biochem J 404 (2007) 487–497.
- [52] A. Aronheim, Y.C. Broder, A. Cohen, A. Fritsch, B. Belisle, A. Abo, Chp, a homologue of the GTPase Cdc42Hs, activates the JNK pathway and is implicated in reorganizing the actin cytoskeleton, Curr. Biol. 8 (1998) 1125– 1128.
- [53] H.G. Tay, Y.W. Ng, E. Manser, A vertebrate-specific Chp-PAK-PIX pathway maintains E-cadherin at adherens junctions during zebrafish epiboly, PLoS ONE 5 (2010) e10125.
- [54] R. Creton, J.E. Speksnijder, L.F. Jaffe, Patterns of free calcium in zebrafish embryos, J. Cell Sci. 111 (Pt 12) (1998) 1613–1622.
- [55] E. Gilland, A.L. Miller, E. Karpius, R. Baker, S.E. Webb, Imaging of multicellular large-scale rhythmic calcium waves during zebrafish gastrulation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 96 (1999) 157–161.
- [56] B.A. Holloway, S. Gomez de la Torre Canny, Y. Ye, D.C. Slusarski, C.M. Freisinger, R. Dosch, M.M. Chou, D.S. Wagner, M.C. Mullins, A novel role for MAPKAPK2 in morphogenesis during zebrafish development, PLoS Genet. 5 (2009) e1000413.

- [57] E. Arnaud, K.F. Ferri, J. Thibaut, Z. Haftek-Terreau, A. Aouacheria, D. Le Guellec, T. Lorca, G. Gillet, The zebrafish bcl-2 homologue Nrz controls development during somitogenesis and gastrulation via apoptosis-dependent and independent mechanisms, Cell Death Differ. 13 (2006) 1128–1137.
- [58] N. Popgeorgiev, B. Bonneau, K.F. Ferri, J. Prudent, J. Thibaut, G. Gillet, The apoptotic regulator Nrz controls cytoskeletal dynamics via the regulation of Ca2+ trafficking in the zebrafish blastula, Dev. Cell 20 (2011) 663–676.
- [59] B. Bonneau, A. Nougarede, J. Prudent, N. Popgeorgiev, N. Peyrieras, R. Rimokh, G. Gillet, The Bcl-2 homolog Nrz inhibits binding of IP3 to its receptor to control calcium signaling during zebrafish epiboly, Sci. Signal 7 (2014) ra14.
- [60] F. Shibasaki, E. Kondo, T. Akagi, F. McKeon, Suppression of signalling through transcription factor NF-AT by interactions between calcineurin and Bcl-2, Nature 386 (1997) 728-731.
- [61] A.M. Cameron, J.P. Steiner, A.J. Roskams, S.M. Ali, G.V. Ronnett, S.H. Snyder, Calcineurin associated with the inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor-FKBP12 complex modulates Ca2+ flux, Cell 83 (1995) 463–472.
- [62] P.P. Ruvolo, X. Deng, T. Ito, B.K. Carr, W.S. May, Ceramide induces Bcl2 dephosphorylation via a mechanism involving mitochondrial PP2A, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 20296–20300.
- [63] M. Shitashige, M. Toi, T. Yano, M. Shibata, Y. Matsuo, F. Shibasaki, Dissociation of Bax from a Bcl-2/Bax heterodimer triggered by phosphorylation of serine 70 of Bcl-2, J. Biochem. 130 (2001) 741–748.
- [64] K. Yamamoto, H. Ichijo, S.J. Korsmeyer, BCL-2 is phosphorylated and inactivated by an ASK1/Jun N-terminal protein kinase pathway normally activated at G(2)/M, Mol. Cell. Biol. 19 (1999) 8469–8478.
- [65] M.C. Bassik, L. Scorrano, S.A. Oakes, T. Pozzan, S.J. Korsmeyer, Phosphorylation of BCL-2 regulates ER Ca2+ homeostasis and apoptosis, EMBO J. 23 (2004) 1207–1216.
- [66] B. Bonneau, N. Popgeorgiev, J. Prudent, G. Gillet, Cytoskeleton dynamics in early zebrafish development: a matter of phosphorylation?, Bioarchitecture 1 (2011) 216–220
- [67] M.J. Berridge, Cell signalling. A tale of two messengers, Nature 365 (1993) 388–389.
- [68] E. Vermassen, R.A. Fissore, N. Nadif Kasri, V. Vanderheyden, G. Callewaert, L. Missiaen, J.B. Parys, H. De Smedt, Regulation of the phosphorylation of the inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor by protein kinase C, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 319 (2004) 888–893.
- [69] A. Hall, Rho GTPases and the actin cytoskeleton, Science 279 (1998) 509-514.
- [70] S.L. Lai, C.N. Chang, P.J. Wang, S.J. Lee, Rho mediates cytokinesis and epiboly via ROCK in zebrafish, Mol. Reprod. Dev. 71 (2005) 186–196.
- [71] S.L. Lai, T.H. Chan, M.J. Lin, W.P. Huang, S.W. Lou, S.J. Lee, Diaphanous-related formin 2 and profilin I are required for gastrulation cell movements, PLoS ONE 3 (2008) e3439.
- [72] S. Zhu, L. Liu, V. Korzh, Z. Gong, B.C. Low, RhoA acts downstream of Wnt5 and Wnt11 to regulate convergence and extension movements by involving effectors Rho kinase and Diaphanous: use of zebrafish as an in vivo model for GTPase signaling, Cell. Signal. 18 (2006) 359–372.
- [73] F. Lin, S. Chen, D.S. Sepich, J.R. Panizzi, S.G. Clendenon, J.A. Marrs, H.E. Hamm, L. Solnica-Krezel, Galpha12/13 regulate epiboly by inhibiting E-cadherin activity and modulating the actin cytoskeleton, J. Cell Biol. 184 (2009) 909–921.
- and modulating the actin cytoskeleton, J. Cell Biol. 184 (2009) 909–921.

  [74] C.M. Yeh, Y.C. Liu, C.J. Chang, S.L. Lai, C.D. Hsiao, S.J. Lee, Ptenb mediates gastrulation cell movements via Cdc42/AKT1 in zebrafish, PLoS ONE 6 (2011)
- [75] J.A. Montero, B. Kilian, J. Chan, P.E. Bayliss, C.P. Heisenberg, Phosphoinositide 3-kinase is required for process outgrowth and cell polarization of gastrulating mesendodermal cells, Curr. Biol. 13 (2003) 1279–1289.
- [76] I. Castanon, L. Abrami, L. Holtzer, C.P. Heisenberg, F.G. van der Goot, M. Gonzalez-Gaitan, Anthrax toxin receptor 2a controls mitotic spindle positioning, Nat. Cell Biol. 15 (2013) 28–39.